

Spinal Cord Stimulation

Leonardo Kapural and James Deering

Contents

Introduction	927
Mechanisms of Action	927
Spinal Cord Stimulator Trial Technique	928
Spinal Cord Stimulator Permanent Implant	930
Complications	932
Clinical Outcomes	932
Traditional 0–1200 Hz	932
Burst	933
10 kHz	933
Closed Loop	933
Conclusions	933
Suggested Reading	934

Introduction

Spinal cord stimulation (SCS) has been used for several decades and just recently has been considered a superior treatment for patients with chronic, intractable pain. Currently, about 34,000 patients worldwide receive a spinal cord stimulator annually for any chronic pain. Spinal cord stimulation (SCS) leads are placed in the epidural space to deliver electrical stimulation to the dorsal columns of the spinal cord. Successful pain relief generally requires activation of dorsal column fibers that innervate the patient's painful area.

Historically, using traditional low-frequency (40–90 Hz) stimulation, the patient feels paresthesia located over the painful area and pain relief due to spinal and supraspinal mechanisms. However, only about 30–50% of patients respond to conventional low-frequency SCS therapy. Recent

L. Kapural (🖂) · J. Deering

advances in SCS therapies are improving SCS outcomes. For example, continuous stimulation at a higher frequency (10 kHz) was shown to provide superior pain relief for low back and leg pain compared to traditional lower SCS stimulation frequencies. Additionally, prior studies have indicated that 1 kHz continuous stimulation or 500 Hz burst patterns of stimulation may provide an additional pain relieving benefit while reducing the stimulation energy required. More recently, both closed-loop and differential target multiplex types of SCS demonstrated, in well-conducted randomized controlled trials (RCTs), comparable outcomes to 10 kHz SCS in optimizing the overall outcomes of this therapy.

Mechanisms of Action

Traditionally, low-frequency, traditional type of SCS was thought to provide long-term pain relief by the activation of the gate control mechanisms, conductance blockade of the spinothalamic tracts, blockade of supraspinal sympathetic

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 D. Jankovic, P. Peng (eds.), *Regional Nerve Blocks in Anesthesia and Pain Therapy*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-88727-8_72

Carolinas Pain Institute and Chronic Pain Research Institute, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

mechanisms, and activation or release of neuromodulators. When SCS is active, unmyelinated afferent fibers (A delta and C) are inhibited by the electrical stimulation of nonnociceptive, myelinated afferent fibers. Conductance blockade of the spinothalamic tract is accomplished by depression of the spinothalamic tract cells by SCS during thoracic or cervical stimulation of the ipsilateral dorsal columns. Such inhibition of actual transmission of electrochemical information can be accomplished anywhere along the spinothalamic tract. Blockade of supraspinal sympathetic mechanisms results in an increase of the peripheral blood flow in the skin which remains after the transection of the dorsal roots and after spinal cord section rostrally to the stimulating electrode. There is also transitory inhibition of sympathetic vasoconstriction documented in studies conducted in the early 1990s. Activation and release of neuromodulators included an induction of GABA release in the dorsal horn, glycine release in the extracellular space of the spinal cord, and reduction of glutamate and aspartate release in the dorsal horn.

Measured effects of SCS to heart function include reduction of intrinsic cardiac nervous system activity and preemptive suppression of marked increase in cardiac NSA following local occlusion of coronary blood flow which may inhibit local heart circuits and decrease frequency of arrhythmias in the ischemic heart. We do know that SCS has no effects on coronary blood flow during ischemic conditions, left ventricular function, or left ventricular blood flow distribution. However, positive and anti-ischemic effects include decrease of myocyte oxygen demand, significant increase of pacing tolerance, decreased ST segment depression, and improved myocardial lactate metabolism, which in turn results in pain relief and improvement in exercise tolerance.

SCS improves ischemic extremity pain providing vasodilator effect via peripheral release of calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), prostacyclin release, and neuronal release of nitric oxide. During SCS, there is a decreased sensitivity to vasoconstrictive sympathetic stimuli mainly by suppression of efferent sympathetic activity. Such effect is inhibited after complete surgical sympathectomy and blockade of nicotinic transmission in the ganglia or postganglionic [alpha]₁ adrenoceptors. It has been determined that an increase in skin blood flow during SCS correlates with resulting pain relief, increase in transcutaneous partial oxygen pressure, and increased pulse-wave amplitude.

Other possible mechanisms of SCS were proposed recently when very specific types of SCS waveform are used, different than traditional low-frequency type of SCS. For example, recruitment of the dorsal horn with activation of inhibitory neurons was a proposed additional mechanism of action seen with 10 kHz. This is independent of any effect that SCS may produce on the dorsal columns. Such effect results in additional pain relief, not exhibited greatly when low frequencies (1–1200 Hz) of SCS were used.

Recently, much work was done on neuromodulation, mainly SCS, involving glial cells in addition to neurons. These cells (microglia, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes) are abundant in the spinal cord and carry ratio of about 12:1 to neurons in the gray matter and 20:1 in the white matter. While glial cells support normal brain function by cleaning damaged areas and regulating neurotransmitters, in chronic disease conditions, they can become "activated" and contribute to a pathological state, such as chronic pain. Glial cells respond to electrical field application by depolarizing, releasing neurotransmitters, and communicating with each other. Differential target multiplex (DTM) type of SCS is directed toward modulation of glial cell response. In an acute neuropathic pain model in rodents and mammals, DTM type of SCS provided superior thermal and mechanical hypersensitivity suppression compared to low and high (1000 Hz) type of SCS. During DTM SCS in an animal model of neuropathic pain, gene expression is better restored toward the baseline, non-pain state, when compared to low- and highfrequency SCS. including the genes related to neuroinflammation.

Finally, a recent development in spinal cord stimulation waveform optimization is a closed-loop stimulation. During closed-loop stimulation, data regarding the spinal cord response to stimulation, measured as evoked compound action potentials (ECAPs), is recorded in real time. This allows the spinal cord stimulator system to adjust its stimulation parameters to maintain ideal therapeutic response.

Spinal Cord Stimulator Trial Technique

As opposed to any other interventional therapy for control of chronic pain, patients can undergo temporary SCS trial. Time interval of SCS trial may vary between 3 and 30 days (in the United States, most frequently 7-10 days). Based on NACC guidelines, patients who have been identified by the physician as potential SCS candidates should be screened for risk factors that may predispose them to complications from SCS, referred for psychological evaluation to rule out any prohibitive psychological disorders that may hinder successful response to neuromodulation, and thorough history and physical examination must be performed. Vital questions for the SCS candidate include whether or not they are anticoagulated, have a history of poorly controlled diabetes, are current smokers, or have a history of surgical site infection/poor wound healing. If the patient is anticoagulated, American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine (ASRA) guidelines should be strictly adhered to in order to minimize the risk of catastrophic epidural hematoma formation or any other bleeding. Attention should be given to the patient's body habitus, as increase in body mass index may affect procedural technique and predispose the patient to postoperative

infection. Spine imaging should be carefully reviewed in order to rule out structural instability that would warrant surgical attention, as well as central canal stenosis that may preclude the safe insertion of SCS leads.

The patient is brought to the fluoroscopy suite and positioned prone with adequate padding under the abdomen to minimize lumbar lordosis. Weight-based antibiotics are administered 30–90 minutes prior to epidural space access. Sterility should be maintained while prepping and draping the patient. If sedation is required, it should be minimal in order to facilitate patient-physician communication throughout the procedure. AP fluoroscopy is centered over the intended epidural entry point, most commonly L2–L3 to T12–L1 for thoracolumbar SCS (back and leg pain). The image is optimized with fine oblique adjustments to center the spinous processes between the pedicles and cephalad or caudal tilt to square the endplates of the vertebral body at the intended level of epidural entry (Fig. 72.1).



Fig. 72.1 Anterior-posterior fluoroscopic view of an entry point to the lumbar epidural space. Notice that both Tuohy needles are placed next to each other within the same lumbar interspace. Final advancement of the needles was achieved in lateral view (see Fig. 72.2a) and after the confirmation of an epidural space, and leads accessed epidural space in lateral view, further advancement of the leads is commenced in anterior-posterior fluoroscopic view as shown in Fig. 72.2b

Once the optimal AP image has been obtained, needle entry point must be determined. The goal is to enter the epidural space at a relatively flat angle of 30–45°. Individual patient body habitus greatly impacts the proper skin insertion point. The greater the amount of subcutaneous tissue, the further the skin entry point will be from the intended interlaminar target. In a patient of average BMI, local anesthetic is injected in the skin overlying the medial border of the pedicle one level caudad to the interlaminar epidural target. Deep local anesthetic infiltration may be achieved using a spinal needle along the intended trajectory. Next, the 14-gauge Tuohy needle is directed toward the midline of the intended interlaminar space. Note that the necessary length of the Tuohy needle may vary based on point of skin entry.

Utilizing frequent AP fluoroscopy, contact should be made with the cephalad aspect of the lamina immediately below the intended epidural target. This serves as a depth gauge and minimizes the risk of inadvertent entry into the epidural or intrathecal space. Once contact has been made, a lateral fluoroscopic image is obtained.

The angle of approach is further reduced, and the Tuohy needle is advanced anteriorly toward the epidural space. As the needle approaches the base of the spinous processes under lateral fluoroscopy, a loss of resistance technique is utilized to safely identify the epidural space. Once loss of resistance is obtained, the SCS lead is slowly advanced into the epidural space. A lateral image is obtained to confirm the lead is positioned posteriorly in the spinal column (Fig. 72.2a, b).

The lead is advanced superiorly through the epidural space under continuous fluoroscopic guidance to the desired vertebral level. This target varies based on the diagnosis being treated and various device manufacturer recommendations.

Once the first lead has been advanced to the intended target site, attention is directed to the placement of the second Tuohy needle. This can be inserted ipsilateral to the first needle at the same interlaminar level, at the level above or the level below the insertion site of the first needle. It may also be inserted from the contralateral side aiming toward the intended interlaminar entry point. After entering the epidural space, the second lead is advanced alongside the first lead until it reaches its target vertebral level (Fig. 72.3).

After satisfactory lead location has been established, the Tuohy needles are removed with intermittent fluoroscopy to ensure they do not advance or withdraw during needle movement. Once the needles are removed, the leads are secured in a fashion that suits the physician's preference. This may include suturing in place using manufacturer provided anchoring devices, suturing to the lead itself, securing it using Steri-Strip, and dressing only or tunneling leads for possible prolonged trials (Fig. 72.4).



Fig. 72.2 Lateral fluoroscopic views during Tuohy needle and lead insertion in the epidural space. (a) Needle insertion level, typically upper lumbar, for the lead placement that would be used for back and leg chronic pain. Notice that both needles are inserted at the same ligamentum flavum level and leads with eight contacts each were just con-

firmed to be positioned in the posterior epidural space. (b) A final position of two 8-contact leads in the posterior epidural space. In this example, leads were stacked from the top of T8 vertebral body to mid vertebral body of T11



Fig. 72.3 Final positioning of two Octrode leads in the anteriorposterior view. One lead reached top of T8 vertebral body, the other one top of T9

The duration of the trial may range from 3 to 10 days depending on patient response and physician preference. Beyond a 10-day trial period, the risk of infection increases, but could be mitigated by tunneling leads (Fig. 72.3b).

Spinal Cord Stimulator Permanent Implant

Permanent implantation of a SCS system is performed in a sterile operating room setting. The patient is positioned prone in a similar fashion as described for the SCS trial procedure, with adequate padding to reduce normal lumbar lordosis (or cervical lordosis for cervical SCS implant). Anesthesia is administered and the patient is prepped and draped in a sterile fashion. Intravenous antibiotics have been administered within 1 h of incision. AP fluoroscopy is utilized to identify the intended interlaminar target. A vertical incision site is marked starting at the level of the intervertebral disc immediately inferior to the intended interlaminar insertion site and extending inferiorly 3 to 4 cm.

The skin and subcutaneous tissue is anesthetized with 1% lidocaine containing 1:200,000 epinephrine. A vertical incision is made using a scalpel blade. Careful dissection is per-



Fig. 72.4 Photographs of various externalized lead skin anchoring techniques at the conclusion of lead placement. (a) Examples of industry-offered anchor secured to the skin (left) vs directly tied lead in number-eight-shape form to prevent migration. (b) Two epidural leads

tunneled about 4–5 cm under the skin for possible prolonged trial. Notice that second epidural needle is inserted in a small stab wound to facilitate tunneling

formed, assisted by electrocautery to achieve hemostasis, until the fascia overlying the spinous processes/supraspinous ligament is exposed. A Weitlaner retractor may assist during the dissection as well as Tuohy needle placement.

Next, the first epidural needle is inserted lateral to the palpable spinous processes at a 30-45° angle, directed toward the midline of the target interlaminar space. This insertion site should be within the superior one third of the incision in order to allow adequate space below for the insertion of the second needle. Contact may be made with the lamina just caudad to the intended interlaminar space in order to gauge depth. The needle is further advanced utilizing lateral fluoroscopy and a loss of resistance technique until the epidural space is reached. The stimulator lead is then advanced through the needle into the epidural space, which is confirmed by posterior location of the lead on lateral fluoroscopy. The lead is then advanced under continuous AP fluoroscopy to the intended vertebral level. Next the second epidural needle is placed either ipsilateral and inferior to the first needle or on the contralateral side (Fig. 72.5). Proper entry into the epidural space is confirmed as described for the first needle, and the second lead is advanced in parallel to the first lead.

The epidural needles are removed leaving the leads in place. The leads are then secured to the underlying fascia using the SCS manufacturer provided anchoring devices and non-absorbable suture (Fig. 72.6). A final fluoroscopy image is captured to ensure no lead migration occurred with needle removal and anchoring of the leads.



Fig. 72.5 Tuohy needles and epidural lead placement during the percutaneous SCS system implantation. Two needles in final position, inserted ipsilaterally and vertical to one another, with SCS leads advanced through those needles

It is essential to discuss IPG location with the patient prior to implantation. It is vital to examine the potential site of implantation while the patient is in the sitting position, paying attention to the location of the iliac crest, the inferior aspect of the ribs, as well as the level at which the patient's belt-line typically lies to avoid postoperative discomfort. The desired site is marked preoperatively before proceeding to the operating room.



Fig. 72.6 Two cylindrical leads anchored utilizing manufacturer provided anchor devices and non-adsorbable suture



Fig. 72.7 Retention loop created within the midline incision intended to decrease/prevent incidence of lead migration

After injecting 1% lidocaine with 1:200,000 epinephrine, a 4 cm horizontal incision is made using a scalpel blade. Blunt dissection and electrocautery are utilized to create a pocket that is no more than 2 cm below the surface of the skin. This ensures the ability to effectively charge the device. A sizer may be utilized to check that the pocket size will fit the IPG.

Once the pocket has been created and hemostasis has been achieved, the leads must be tunneled from the midline incision to the pocket. The tunneling device may be bent slightly to ensure the ability to remain superficial while tunneling. It is inserted through the tissue at the inferior aspect of the midline incision and directed toward the IPG pocket. Care should be taken to palpate the tip of the tunneler as it is advanced to prevent deep penetration. Once the tunneler emerges in the IPG pocket site, the two SCS leads are fed into the tunneling device until they are visualized on the IPG pocket side of the tunnel. Enough lead may be left within the midline incision to create a retention loop in order to reduce the risk of lead migration (Fig. 72.7). The sheath is then pulled through the tunnel and removed through the IPG pocket incision.

Next, the electrodes are cleaned with a wet and dry Raytec and inserted into the IPG. An impedance check is performed, and the leads are locked into place.

Copious irrigation of both incisions is performed prior to closure. The excess length of SCS lead is looped behind the IPG as it is placed inside the pocket. Non-absorbable suture is utilized to secure the IPG within the pocket. The wounds are closed in a layered fashion using simple interrupted absorbable suture. The skin is closed using a running absorbable suture or staples.

Complications

SCS device-related infection rate has been estimated to be 3.11% based on a logistic regression (n = 6615) over a 12-month postoperative period. It is most commonly seen at the IPG pocket site. Lead migration has been reported as a possible complication of SCS, occurring at a rate of approximately 2.1–12% of implants depending on the reference source. Pocket site discomfort has also been noted with some frequency. Other less common complications that have been described include electrode fracture, IPG failure, and CSF leak following dural puncture, among others.

Clinical Outcomes

Traditional 0–1200 Hz

Traditional SCS has been demonstrated to be a superior treatment option for patients suffering from failed back surgery syndrome when compared to conventional medical management or reoperation. In addition to traditional SCS being more efficacious in improving pain scores and quality of life, it was also found to be less costly than long-term medical management or reoperation for failed back surgery syndrome. Lowfrequency SCS has traditionally been reliant on paresthesia coverage overlapping the distribution of a patient's pain. However, some studies have demonstrated superior response to sub-perception stimulation at less than 1200 Hz when compared to traditional tonic stimulation. A multicenter, prospective, randomized controlled trial that enrolled 70 subjects and randomized to either receive supra-perception or sub-perception stimulation at less than 1200 Hz demonstrated non-inferiority to subthreshold stimulation. 39% of subjects with sub-perception settings and 29% with supra-perception settings had a greater than or equal to 50% reduction in their overall pain scores at 3 months post-activation as compared with baseline. Notably, there has been evidence to suggest the contrary that there is no significant difference between patient response to sub-perception versus supra-perception. Attempts have been made to elucidate the exact threshold frequency of stimulation at which patients have an improved response. In a prospective RCT, mean low back pain VAS scores were compared in patients suffering from failed back surgery syndrome who were treated with either sham stimulation, 1200, 3030, or 5882 Hz. There was no significant difference found between the sham stimulation group, 1200 Hz, and 3030 Hz groups. Patients in the 5882 Hz group did experience a greater reduction in VAS score. The overall trend in study results appears to be in favor of higher-frequency stimulation. However, the exact stimulation frequency threshold in which the greatest results are obtained has yet to be determined.

Burst

Burst stimulation is another recently studied waveform with significant evidence to support its use. A "burst" is characterized by a five-pulse train with internal frequency of 500 Hz delivered at 40 Hz utilizing a passive recharge pattern and waveform. It was first described by De Ridder et al. in 2013. This early study examined 15 patients that were randomized to placebo, tonic, or burst stimulation groups. Patients receiving burst SCS experienced improvement in back, limb, and general limb pain VAS scores by 51%, 53%, and 55%, respectively, whereas the tonic SCS group and placebo group experienced 30%, 52%, and 31% and 18.9%, 11.7%, and 10.9% improvement, respectively. Deer et al. conducted a large RCT (SUNBURST) in which 100 patients were randomized to receive traditional or burst stimulation for 12 weeks. At the conclusion of the 12-week period, the patients were then crossed over to comparing stimulation group 12 additional weeks. Burst stimulation was found to be superior to traditional tonic stimulation, with slightly better average pain scores (P < 0.017). Of note, at 1 year postimplant, 68.2% of patients preferred burst stimulation.

10 kHz

There is substantial, Level 1 evidence to support the efficacy and durability of high-frequency (10 kHz) SCS for treating back and leg pain and superiority of high-frequency stimulation to traditional stimulation. In a large prospective randomized controlled trial published in 2015 (SENZA-RCT), the response rates of 171 patients who were implanted with either a 10 kHz or traditional low-frequency 2-1200 Hz SCS system to treat back and leg pain were compared. At 12 months postimplant, both groups had sustained response, but the 10 kHz therapy provided in 80% of patients more than 50% of pain relief, versus less than 50% responders in the traditional SCS group. Mean back pain was reduced from VAS of 7.4 ± 1.2 to 2.5 (67% decrease) in the 10 kHz group versus being reduced from 7.8 \pm 1.2 to 4.3 (44% decrease) in the traditional SCS group. These results were noted to be durable through a 24-month follow-up, with 76.5% ongoing responder rate in the 10 kHz SCS group versus 49.2% responder rate in the traditional SCS group. Evidence for the efficacy of 10 kHz SCS has been further substantiated by two large randomized prospective studies on chronic nonsurgical back pain patient population and those with neuropathic pain in peripheral neuropathy in diabetes. Both studies substantiated superiority of 10 kHz SCS to conventional medical management in control of chronic pain with consistent responder rate exceeding 80% of treated patients. This therapy is currently the only SCS modality supported by three large prospective RCTs. Furthermore, a recent elegant retrospective study measured 10 kHz SCS's ability as rescue therapy in patients who were previously implanted and failed conventional, low-frequency SCS systems. Out of 105 patients analyzed, 81% of patients experienced greater than 50% pain relief after transitioning from the traditional (less than 1200 Hz) to 10 kHz SCS.

Closed Loop

Levi et al. conducted a multicenter, double-blind, parallel-arm, RCT which enrolled 134 patients. The participants were randomized to the control group which received fixed output, open-loop stimulation or the experimental group which received ECAP-controlled closed-loop spinal cord stimulation. The primary outcome measure was the percentage of patients that obtained greater than 50% pain relief in the back and legs at 3 and 12 months. The closed-loop group had 82.3% responder rate at 3 months, and 83.1% at 12 months, compared to the open-loop group, which had a 60.3% and 61% responder rate at 3 and 12 months, respectively (20). Closed-loop SCS stimulation is not currently available for commercial use, but preliminary data shows promising results for sustained and even improved response rates over time.

Conclusions

Spinal cord stimulation for control of chronic pain recently became the fastest advancing therapy in the area of neuromodulation. The main reason is an introduction of novel waveforms in SCS therapy providing better long-term outcomes than long-standing traditional 0–1200 Hz SCS. Closed-loop, 10 kHz, and differential target multiplex therapies for the first time in well-conducted RCTs demonstrated in more than 80% of patients 50% or more pain relief and very few procedural or long-term complications of therapy. There is a strong interest and much ongoing basic science and clinical research exploring novel approaches and waveforms to simplify techniques of electrical stimulation and improve the outcomes. Currently, the future of SCS for control of chronic pain looks bright and very promising.

Suggested Reading

- Al-Kaisy A, Palmisani S, Pang D, Sanderson K, Wesley S, Tan Y, McCammon S, Trescott A. Prospective, randomized, sham-control, double blind, crossover trial of subthreshold spinal cord stimulation at various kilohertz frequencies in subjects suffering from failed back surgery syndrome (SCS frequency study). Neuromodulation. 2018 Jul;21(5):457–65.
- Bendel MA, O'Brien T, Hoelzer BC, Deer TR, Pittelkow TP, Costandi S, Walega DR, Azer G, Hayek SM, Wang Z, Eldrige JS, Qu W, Rosenow JM, Falowski SM, Neuman SA, Moeschler SM, Wassef C, Kim C, Niazi T, Saifullah T, Yee B, Kim C, Oryhan CL, Warren DT, Lerman I, Mora R, Hanes M, Simopoulos T, Sharma S, Gilligan C, Grace W, Ade T, Mekhail NA, Hunter JP, Choi D, Choi DY. Spinal cord stimulator related infections: findings from a multicenter retrospective analysis of 2737 implants. Neuromodulation. 2017;20(6):553–7.
- Bendersky D, Yampolsky C. Is spinal cord stimulation safe? A review of its complications. World Neurosurg. 2014;82(6):1359–68.
- Benyamin R, Galan V, Hatheway J, Kim P, Choi D, Falowski S, Calodney A, Sweet J, Yu C, Kapural L, Provenzano D. Options: a prospective, open-label study of high-dose spinal cord stimulation in patients with chronic Back and leg pain. Pain Physician. 2020;23(1):87–98.
- Broseta J, Barberá J, de Vera JA, Barcia-Salorio JL, Garcia-March G, González-Darder J, Rovaina F, Joanes V. Spinal cord stimulation in peripheral arterial disease. A cooperative study. J Neurosurg. 1986;64(1):71–80.
- Cedeno DL, Vera-Portocarrero L, Goodman Keiser M, et al. Translational comparison of rodent and sheep models of continuous spinal cord stimulation. Poster Presentation at International Society, Sydney, Australia, May 27–30, 2019.
- Cedeño DL, Smith WJ, Kelley CA, Vallejo R. Spinal cord stimulation using differential target multiplexed programming modulates neural cell-specific transcriptomes in an animal model of neuropathic pain. Mol Pain. 2020;16:1744806920964360.
- Chakravarthy K, Kent AR, Raza A, Xing F, Kinfe TM. Burst spinal cord stimulation: review of preclinical studies and comments on clinical outcomes. Neuromodulation. 2018;21(5):431–9.
- Chakravarthy K, Fishman MA, Zuidema X, Hunter CW, Levy R. Mechanism of action in burst spinal cord stimulation: review and recent advances. Pain Med. 2019;20(Suppl 1):S13–22. https://doi. org/10.1093/pm/pnz073.
- Croom JE, Foreman RD, Chandler MJ, Koss MC, Barron KW. Role of nitric oxide in cutaneous blood flow increases in the rat hindpaw during dorsal column stimulation. Neurosurgery. 1997;40(3):565–70; discussion 571. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006123-199703000-00027.
- Cui JG, O'Connor WT, Ungerstedt U, Linderoth B, Meyerson BA. Spinal cord stimulation attenuates augmented dorsal horn

release of excitatory amino acids in mononeuropathy via a GABAergic mechanism. Pain. 1997;73(1):87–95.

- De Ridder D, Plazier M, Kamerling N, et al. Burst spinal cord stimulation for limb and back pain. World Neurosurg. 2013;80(5):642–9.
- Deer TR, Lamer TJ, Pope JE, et al. The neurostimulation appropriateness consensus committee (NACC) safety guidelines for the reduction of severe neurological injury. Neuromodulation. 2017;20:13–30.
- Deer T, Slavin KV, Amirdelfan K, North RB, Burton AW, Yearwood TL, Tavel E, Staats P, Falowski S, Pope J, Justiz R, Fabi AY, Taghva A, Paicius R, Houden T, Wilson D. Success using neuromodulation with BURST (SUNBURST) study: results from a prospective, randomized controlled trial using a novel burst waveform. Neuromodulation. 2018a Jan;21(1):56–66.
- Deer T, Slavin KV, Amirdelfan K, et al. Success using neuromodulation with BURST (SUNBURST) study: results from a prospective, randomized controlled trial using a novel burst waveform. Neuromodulation. 2018b;21(1):56–66.
- Falowski SM, Provenzano DA, Xia Y, Doth AH. Spinal cord stimulation infection rate and risk factors: results from a United States payer database. Neuromodulation. 2019 Feb;22(2):179–89.
- Fishman M, Cordner H, Justiz R, et al. 12 month results from multicenter randomized controlled trial comparing DTM SCS and traditional SCS in subjects with chronic intractable back and leg pain. In: 2021 North American Neuromodulation Society annual meeting abstracts.
- Foreman RD, Linderoth B. Neural mechanisms of spinal cord stimulation. Int Rev. Neurobiol. 2012;107:87–119.
- Foreman RD, Linderoth B, Ardell JL, et al. Modulation of intrinsic cardiac neurons by SCS: implications for its therapeutic use in angina pectoris. Cardiovasc Res. 2000;47:367–75.
- Gazelka HM, Freeman ED, Hooten WM, Eldrige JS, Hoelzer BC, Mauck WD, Moeschler SM, Pingree MJ, Rho RH, Lamer TJ. Incidence of clinically significant percutaneous spinal cord stimulator lead migration. Neuromodulation. 2015;18(2):123–5. discussion 125
- Grider J. Effectiveness of spinal cord stimulation in chronic spinal pain: a systematic review. Pain Physician. 2016;19:E33–54.
- Kapural L, Yu C, Doust MW, et al. Novel 10-kHz high-frequency therapy (HF10 therapy) is superior to traditional low-frequency spinal cord stimulation for the treatment of chronic back and leg pain: the SENZARCT randomized controlled trial. Anesthesiology. 2015;123:851–60.
- Kapural L, Yu C, Doust MW, et al. Comparison of 10-kHz high frequency and traditional low-frequency spinal cord stimulation for the treatment of chronic back and leg pain: 24-month results froma multicenter, randomized, controlled pivotal trial. Neurosurgery. 2016;79:667.
- Kapural L, Sayed D, Kim B, Harstroem C, Deering J. Retrospective assessment of salvage to 10 kHz spinal cord stimulation (SCS) in patients who failed traditional SCS therapy: RESCUE study. J Pain Res. 2020;10(13):2861–7.
- Kapural L, Jameson J, Patel M, et al. Spinal cord stimulation at 10 kHz for non-surgical refractory back pain: multicenter RCT primary endpoint results. In: NANS 2021 annual meeting abstracts.
- Kingma JG Jr, Linderoth B, Ardell JL, Armour JA, DeJongste MJ, Foreman RD. Neuromodulation therapy does not influence blood flow distribution or left-ventricular dynamics during acute myocardial ischemia. Auton Neurosci. 2001;91(1–2):47–54.
- Kumar K, Taylor RS, Jacques L, et al. Spinal cord stimulation versus conventional medical management for neuropathic pain: a multicentre randomised controlled trial in patients with failed back surgery syndrome. Pain. 2007;132(1–2):179–88.
- Lee KY, Bae C, Lee D, Kagan Z, Bradley K, Chung JM, La JH. Lowintensity, Kilohertz Frequency spinal cord stimulation differently affects excitatory and inhibitory neurons in the rodent superficial dorsal horn. Neuroscience. 2020;21(428):132–9.

- Linderoth B, Fedorcsak I, Meyerson BA. Peripheral vasodilatation after spinal cord stimulation: animal studies of putative effector mechanisms. Neurosurgery. 1991a;28(2):187–95.
- Linderoth B, Gunasekera L, Meyerson BA. Effects of sympathectomy on skin and muscle microcirculation during dorsal column stimulation: animal studies. Neurosurgery. 1991b;28(2):187–95.
- Linderoth B, Herregodts P, Meyerson BA. Sympathetic mediation of peripheral vasodilation induced by spinal cord stimulation: animal studies of the role of cholinergic and adrenergic receptor subtypes. Neurosurgery. 1994;35(4):711–9.
- Mannheimer C, Eliasson T, Andersson B, Bergh CH, Augustinsson LE, Emanuelsson H, Waagstein F. Effects of spinal cord stimulation in angina pectoris induced by pacing and possible mechanisms of action. BMJ. 1993;307(6902):477–80.
- Mekhail N, Mehanny D, Armanyous S, Saweris Y, Costandi S. The impact of obesity on the effectiveness of spinal cord stimulation in chronic spine-related pain patients. Spine J. 2019;19(3):476–86.
- Mekhail N, Levy RM, Deer TR, Kapural L, Li S, Amirdelfan K, Hunter CW, Rosen SM, Costandi SJ, Falowski SM, Burgher AH, Pope JE, Gilmore CA, Qureshi FA, Staats PS, Scowcroft J, Carlson J, Kim CK, Yang MI, Stauss T, Poree L. Evoke Study Group. Long-term safety and efficacy of closed-loop spinal cord stimulation to treat chronic back and leg pain (Evoke): a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2020;19(2):123–34.
- Narouze S, Benzon HT, Provenzano D, et al. Interventional spine and pain procedures in patients on antiplatelet and anticoagulant medications (Second Edition): guidelines from the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, the European Society of Regional Anaesthesia and Pain Therapy, the American Academy of Pain Medicine, the International Neuromodulation Society, the North American Neuromodulation Society, and the World Institute of Pain. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2018;43(3):225–62.
- North RB, Kidd DH, Farrokhi F, Piantadosi SA. Spinal cord stimulation versus repeated lumbosacral spine surgery for chronic pain: a randomized, controlled trial. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(1):98–106. Discussion 7.
- North RB, Kidd D, Shipley J, Taylor RS. Spinal cord stimulation versus reoperation for failed back surgery syndrome: a cost effectiveness and cost utility analysis based on a randomized, controlled trial. Neurosurgery. 2007;61(2):361–8. Discussion 368–9.
- North J, Hong SJ, Young Cho P. Clinical outcomes of 1 kHz subperception spinal cord stimulation in implanted patients with failed paresthesia-based stimulation: results of a prospective randomized controlled trial. Neuromodulation. 2016;19(7):731–7.

- North R, Desai MJ, Vangeneugden J, Raftopoulos C, Van Havenbergh T, Deruytter M, Remacle JM, Shipley J, Tan Y, Johnson MJ, Van den Abeele C, Rigoard P, PROMISE Study Group. Postoperative infections associated with prolonged spinal cord stimulation trial duration (PROMISE RCT). Neuromodulation. 2020;23(5):620–5.
- Parker J, Karantonis DM, Single PS, et al. Compound action potentials recorded in the human spinal cord during neurostimulation for pain relief. Pain. 2012;153:593–601.
- Peterson E, Stauss TG, Scowcroft JA, et al. 10 kHz spinal cord stimulation for treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy - a multicenter randomized controlled trial. In: 2021 annual North American Neuromodulation Society abstracts; late-breaking abstract 4.
- Ruiz-Sauri A, Orduña-Valls JM, Blasco-Serra A, et al. Glia to neuron ratio in the posterior aspect of the human spinal cord at thoracic segments relevant to spinal cord stimulation. J Anat. 2019;235(5):997–1006.
- Shamji MF, Westwick HJ, Heary RF. Complications related to the use of spinal cord stimulation for managing persistent postoperative neuropathic pain after lumbar spinal surgery. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;39(4):E15.
- Simpson RK Jr, Robertson CS, Goodman JC, Halter JA. Recovery of amino acid neurotransmitters from the spinal cord during posterior epidural stimulation: a preliminary study. J Am Paraplegia Soc. 1991;14(1):3–8.
- Southerland EM, Milhorn DM, Foreman RD, et al. Preemptive, but not reactive, SCS mitigates transient ischemia-induced myocardial infarction via cardiac adrenergic neurons. Am J Physiolol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;292:H311–7.
- Stiller CO, Cui JG, O'Connor WT, Brodin E, Meyerson BA, Linderoth B. Release of gamma-aminobutyric acid in the dorsal horn and suppression of tactile allodynia by spinal cord stimulation in mononeuropathic rats. Neurosurgery. 1996;39(2):367–74.
- Tanaka S, Barron KW, Chandler MJ, Linderoth B, Foreman RD. Low intensity spinal cord stimulation may induce cutaneous vasodilation via CGRP release. Brain Res. 2001;896(1–2):183–7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(01)02144-8.
- Valejo R, Bradley K, Kapural L. Spinal cord stimulation in chronic pain: mode of action. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2017;42(Suppl 14):S53–60.
- Vallejo R, Kelley C, Smith WJ, et al. Cell-specific targeting in neural tissue using Differential Target Multiplexed (DTM) SCS. Poster presentation at the American Society for Regional Anesthesiology (ASRA) conference; Nov 2019.